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SUMMARY

An investigation of the northern block of Smithdowane Stable Yard, Merseyside (NGR
SJ 3634 9014), was undertaken by Oxford Archaeold@yh (OA North) at the request of
RA Fisk & Associates. The work was required to puleva mitigative record of the
building in advance of its partial demolition asrtpaf a residential development
constructing student homes. The work was undertakaacordance with a project design
(Appendix 1)which required the implementation of a Level 3 duig survey (English
Heritage 2006) of the buildings that will be dersb&d; the project design was checked
and sanctioned by the Merseyside Archaeologists Téport sets out the results of the
investigation relating to the extant northern setof the stable yard in the form of a short
document with accompanying photographs and plans.

Historical Background: the location and development of the corporatioablss at
Smithdown Lane, Liverpool can, in part, be attrdzlito the development of public health,
and the land for the stables was purchased in bgG6e Liverpool Health Committee to
provide carts to remove waste off the streets eftttwn. The stables were constructed in
1867 by Mr William Tomkinson and Messrs Richard &atton; by 1870 the corporation
stables were firmly established at Smithdown Lam@ @ number of businesses had sprung
up alongside the stables which furnished the stgdald with provisions. The demands on
the stables were considerable, leading to ongaimgrovements, and expansions were
undertaken in 1872, 1881 and 1892.

By 1935, despite the increasing usage of motorckehi a census showed that there were
still more than 5000 heavy horses working in arabad Liverpool, but by the mid 1940s
the need to compete with motor vehicles for speeliedficiency in delivery and logistics
was increasing and led to an increasing numbeusihlesses turning to motor vehicles and
abandoning the traditional horse and cart.

In 1984, under the Hatton regime, the role of Lbtayor was abolished and the mayor’s
coach, then housed at the stables, was moved tteflmoHall where it was placed on
display to the general public. Following this, #tables lay vacant and the western block
was demolished at the end of 2000 in anticipation student accommodation
developments.

Building Survey Results: The building survey identified four principal pleas of
development relating to the existing structuresagehl of the building was the Yardman’s
House (69 Smithdown Lane) constructed in 1868. sl2aof the present structure was in
the 1880s and entails much of the extant stablekblgard and ancillary buildings. Phase
3 (c 1890s) is represented by the addition of the camksé at the north-east limit of the
extant northern block. Phase 4 was the alteratidhd second phase buildings in order to
allow more than one business to operate out ofsdme stable block. This entailed the
closing of some doors and the creation of othepdwoide two self-contained units.

Recommendations. the building complex is a survival of late ninetde century
corporation architecture, but has no listed bugdétatus and, as such, is not classified as
one of the more significant buildings within Livexgd. The condition of the building is
beyond economic repair and, consequently, it han @roposed by the developer for
demolition. The present building survey has prodide mitigative record of the stable
buildings in the event that they are demolished.

Beneath the structure there is the potential foraias and foundations relating to the early
phases of the stable yard complex and also turomistructed by Joseph Williamson.

For use of RA Fisk Associates and Goldcrest Findride © OA North: May 2011
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Following demolition, it is important that the angasubject to archaeological investigation
in advance of any further construction works.slrécommended that an archaeological
evaluation trench be excavated along the lengtthefbuilding to determine the depth of

bedrock in this area and the potential for undegdyfieatures, particularly tunnels. Subject
to that phase of works there may also be a reqgeinérfor a process of watching brief

during any construction ground works.

For use of RA Fisk Associates and Goldcrest Findride © OA North: May 2011
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1. INTRODUCTION

11
111

1.2
1.2.1

1.3
13.1

1.3.2

CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE PROJECT

An investigation of the Smithdown Lane Stablard (specifically the extant
structures comprising the northern block) was utatten by Oxford Archaeology
North (OA North) at the request of RA Fisk & Assateis. The work was required
to provide a mitigative record of the building idvance of its partial demolition as
part of a development of new student homes. Thekweas undertaken in

accordance with a project desighppendix ), which required the implementation
of a Level 3 building survey (English Heritage 2DP06 the buildings that will be

demolished; the project design was checked andtisagd by the Merseyside
Archaeologist. This report sets out the resultshef investigation relating to the
extant northern section of the stable yard in thenfof a short document with
accompanying photographs and plans.

LOCATION AND GEOLOGY

The Smithdown Lane Stable Yard is located on ths¢ side of Smithdown Lane
(NGR SJ 3634 9014) beneath the crest of a westdgagtope (known as Edge Hill)
at approximately 51.0m AOD; the site is locatedudh®9km east of the limit of
the Liverpool Maritime World Heritage Site Buffep#e (Fig 1). The stable yard is
situated within a block of land which also includdse Williamson Tunnels
Heritage Centre, a functioning museum and visitntie dedicated to promoting
and explaining the work of local eccentric, Jos&piliamson. The visitor centre
includes a modern frontage linked to the survivamgl refurbished south-eastern
elements of the Corporation Stable Yard (FigT2)e complex under investigation
comprises a mid-late nineteenth century red bre&-storey domestic dwelling
with associated yard and outhouse buildings, a lestdilock capable of
accommodating a maximum of 16 horses, extensiveldfdycart room, drying
room and blacksmiths work rooms (Fig 3). The undeg geology of the site
comprises Helsby Sandstone Formation Sandstone.

HISTORIC BACKGROUND

During Liverpool's development and expansion in ¢lagly eighteenth century, the
area known as Edge Hill was essentially separate fthe town centre and was
regarded as a rural area, confirmed by the YatdsPary Map of 1768 (Fig 4)
which shows Edge Lane and Smithdown Lane as |lamegtst surrounded by fields
dotted with the occasional domestic dwelling or ketiop. The map highlights the
static nature of the land boundaries, and the taiem of the major roads, but it
does not indicate the presence of any quarry orth8ioivn Lane.

James Wallace, writing in 1795, notes that Smithuddane demarcated the edge
of one of the cityliberties’ or boundaries, the limits of which were markadthe
manner of ancient roman termini by stones, calledibhabitants ‘Meer Stones’...’
(Wallace 1795, 78). Despite his thorough descniptibthe town and its environs,
including the quarry at Mount Zion and a quarry mBale Street, he makes no
mention of quarrying activity at Edge Hill. Similgr Richard Brookes, writing in

For use of RA Fisk Associates and Goldcrest Findride © OA North: May 2011
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1.3.3

1.3.4

1.35

1.3.6

1.3.7

1853 notes that from 1775 onwards, Smithdown Laas & key landmark as it
demarcated one of the eastern electoral boundésieshe town of Liverpool

(Brookes 1853, 190). Once again, despite Brookesgi¢ing a detailed description
of many noteworthy landmarks and significant indest in Liverpool between
1775 and 1800.

Smithdown Lane was a fairly unremarkable area & tbwn with no large
developments of noteworthy architecture; howeueis tvas to change once the
land had been leased to merchant, entrepreneur phuiienthropist, Joseph
Williamson. Williamson was originally thought tovebeen born in Warrington on
10th March 1769 but recent evidence has come ha tim suggest that he was in
fact from Yorkshire (pers comm, D Bridston). He @to Liverpool in 1780 to
work for Richard Tate, a tobacco manufacturer (H&®218, 106; Whittington-Egan
1952, 110). By 1802 he had acquitted himself welhiwv the firm, gained a
position of respect and was married to Elizabette, Tihe daughter of his employer
Richard Tate. His succeeding employer, Thomas Mads, died in 1803, leaving
him the business (Hand 1917, 2; Whittington-Egas219.10).

By 1806 Williamson had begun to lease the landraiiddason Street (Head 1995,
4). Some sources state that Williamson bought twed | (Hand 1917, 2;
Whittington-Egan 1952, 109-10); however, it is alsoorded that the leases ran out
in 1858 when the land reverted to the West Derbyn@dssion (Head 1995, 4;
Stonehouse 1863, 185), therefore he could not baweed it. Williamson retired
from the tobacco business in 1818 (Hand 1917, 2) emncentrated on the
construction of the complex of buildings and tusneithin, and adjacent to, the
study area.

In 1810 Thomas Troughton published his book ‘Tretdny of Liverpool: from the
earliest authenticated period down to the presagpt @where he comments that ‘A
most excellent and inexhaustible mine of free staméhe vicinity of the town has
hitherto afforded a supply for the constructiortled docks and public buildings..”
(Troughton 1810, 87). However, Troughton only memsi the presence of a quarry
at St James Cemetery and a new quarry recentlpwdised in Toxteth Park. This
again suggests that any potential quarrying on [8awn Lane was either
unknown to contemporary writers, or of such a sreadlle that it was not deemed
worthy of inclusion in publications regarding thistbry and development of the
town.

In 1812, Thomas Kaye, author of ‘The Stranger ivekpool’ describes Edge Hill
as ‘a favourite and rapidly improving residence dnaim this point seen to
advantage. The well built houses starting from tenmit of the hill and
surrounded with trees, gardens and fields, hawea and cheerful effect, but the
foreground of the picture detracts from the wh&tane wall, land barren even in
summer and roads of sand are equally unexpectedrgridasing in the vicinity of
so large and improved a town’ (Kaye 1812, 183)haligh this description does
not directly mention the presence of a quarry,itheen land and roads of sand are
all suggestive of exposed and eroding sandston@tied

Williamson's building works continued for many ygarHe employed large
numbers of the poor at a time when the demob fiteenNtapoleonic Wars in 1815
had left many of the returning soldiers without ludBwire’s Map of 1824 (Fig 5)
includes Smithdown Lane and shows how the areagnadually becoming more
populous with the construction of merchants houseslason Street, King Street

For use of RA Fisk Associates and Goldcrest Findride © OA North: May 2011
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and the surrounding areas. Despite the burgeommgtction programme the

future site of the stable yards is still depictedaafield or open space with one
structure standing near the south-west corner ef glot. Again there is no

indication that this site was being used for quagynor is there any indication of
the presence of Williamson’'s Tunnels which wouldséhdbeen present, if not

always visible from this point onwards. The tunpetaverns and passageways
extended beneath Mason Street to Smithdown Lanevamy of the houses were
built on arches over the tunnels, and undergrouadsggeways linked the
buildings.

1.3.8 Popular myth remembers Williamson as being somgtlih a troglodyte with
historic sources such as ‘Recollection of Old Lpaol’ (Stonehouse 1863) stating
that he lived in a cellar-style living room benehtk house with an additional cave
carved to form a bedroom. There is no physical fpafothis, although larger
chambers within the tunnels, such as the ‘banggetiramber’, have been located
and excavated. The tunnels take various forms atehsive work has been done in
and around the area of the stable yard to docuthenéxtent of the tunnels. The
most notable of these tunnels is the ‘triple-deckennel, so called because it
comprises three tunnels, one on top of the otha@s finnel, more than any others,
highlights the fact that Williamson was not in faligyging tunnels, but rather was
creating brick- and stone-vaulted roofs for a seakpre-existing quarry cuttings.
Williamson used the quarry and the constructiotheftunnels as a way of keeping
people employed and as a training ground for cagpgenstone masons and brick
layers who were involved in the other aspects af ¢onstruction business on
Mason Street. Ultimately, Williamson should be reigal as a skilled businessman
and a generous, if eccentric, philanthropist.

1.3.9 The Liverpool Poor Rate Assessment of 1826/182viges an interesting insight
into the tenancy and ownership of land and its tiencon Mason Street and
Smithdown Lane (recorded in the assessment as Bamedtane). The Poor Rate
was a tax levied locally in order to raise revefarepoor relief within the parish.
The Liverpool Poor Rate Assessment for 1826 st#tes Joseph Williamson
owned three houses on Mason Street (one of whiadtbepied the other two were
leased) and three properties on Smeatham Lane & Lane) which were
listed as the site of quarry with three housestxt@n the land (LRO Acc 2047,
1826). This is the only known record of a quarrySmithdown Lane and suggests
that quarrying was still being undertaken at tmeetiwWilliamson was leasing the
land.

1.3.10 Williamson’s workforce built houses along Masone8tr one of which, Number
44, he took for his own home (Hand 1928, 88), tbmains of which are still
visible today. A drawing produced by James Stons@dt863) after Williamson’s
death shows the layout of gardens which were istexce at this time, and that the
rear boundary of the gardens is the same as thusenson later maps (Fig 6),
indication that the land had already been succlkgséuraced by this date.

1.3.11 Work began in 1832 on George Stephenson's railwayel, which was to connect
Edge Hill station with Lime Street and extendedtlgh the area of Williamsons
tunnels. The Williamson's workmen broke throughoitite railway tunnel from
beneath, making them aware of each others presandeStephenson was given a
conducted tour around Williamson's tunnels, withiokhhe was very impressed
(Hand 1917, 15). The railway cutting appears oneZalylap of 1836 (Fig 6) and

For use of RA Fisk Associates and Goldcrest Findride © OA North: May 2011
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forms the northern boundary to the study area P13t although Williamson's

tunnels extend beyond it to the north and eashénarea known as Paddington,
where it is believed that the tunnels are at theast labyrinthine and extensive
(Stonehouse 1863).

1.3.12 Williamson died on 1st May 1840 aged 71 years aad lwuried with his wife and
her family in the Tate family vault located withthe graveyard of St Thomas
church on Park Lane (OA North 2010).

1.3.13 Following the death of Williamson, all activitieslating to the tunnels ceased and
between 1856/7 the lease on the land expired wighland reverting back to the
West Derby Waste Lands Commission. Ten years theefand was purchased by
the Health Commission for the sum of 30 shillingg gquare yard in order to
construct stables for about 50 horses which wof&ethe scavenging department.

1.3.14 The location and development of the corporatiorblega at Smithdown Lane,
Liverpool can be, in part, attributed to the depeh@nt of public health, which can
be defined as ‘the science and art of preventirgpatie, prolonging life and
promoting health through the organised efforts aridrmed choices of society,
organisations, public and private, communities amividuals’ (Winslow 1920,
23). The proceedings of the Liverpool Health Corbeeitshow that on"3October
1866, it was resolved thaB,922 square yards of land in Smithdown lane be
purchased from Mr. Byford, for the purpose of eregstabling thereon, at the sum
of 30s per square yargH352 COU, 1865/1866, 345).

1.3.15 William Miles, writing in 1864, a mere three yedrsfore the construction of the
Corporation Stable Yard advocates thatstable is no fitting place for the great
display of taste, or unmeaning ornament; it shob&l purely utilitarian in its
character... (Miles 1864, 2). Miles was an authority on therecaf horses and
firmly believed that their value should be reflette carefully thought out and well
designed stable buildings. It was his opinion tlhd#though a stable offers no great
field for the exercise of taste, it affords amptegge for ingenuity in adapting it to
the requirements, essential to the safety, conafiodt well being of the hors€op
cit 3).

1.3.16 It is clear from the design of the stables that smhWilliam Miles opinions were
part of a widely accepted school of thought. Trablets were constructed in 1867
by Mr William Tomkinson and Messrs Richard and Margfter they successfully
tendered for the contract to build and fit out tiew stable yard on Smithdown
Lane. William Tomkinson was contracted to erect #tables, workshops and
cottages based on plans and specifications sulohtjtéhe Borough Engineer. The
total cost of the building work was £4250 with atdgional £119 for floor and loft,
planks and beams (H352 COU 1867, 193). Messrs Richad Norton were
contracted to provide and install all the neces§atyres and fittings which would
turn the newly-constructed buildings into a funotig stable yard. This included
the boilers, pipes, tanks, troughs and stablen@ittiat a cost of £440. These were
also installed according to plans and specificatienbmitted by the Borough
Engineer, who furnished the contractors with therall designipid).

1.3.17 In 1868, the local paper, The Porcupine, documtr@sMay Day procession and
subsequent party, which included a large numberders and cart horses from the
Scavenging Department. The newspaper article desciihe procession athé
bands of clean washed nightmen, with their barrand their dung forks, With

For use of RA Fisk Associates and Goldcrest Findride © OA North: May 2011
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their horses decked so gaily, Decked in trappingyg and gorgeous..(Porcupine
1868).

1.3.18 The article also goes on to state that 150 heawgehavere involved in the
procession and provides a select list of the naofethe horses working and
residing at the corporation stable yard includiktgénan, Bismarck, Turk, and
Blucher, Actress, Hermit, Garibaldi, Owen Glendwhe Welshman active,
Tommahawk, Black Bobby, Nigger, Punch, and JudytarguChloe, Madge
Robertson, The Nun, and Mosé&$ie names of the horses provide a good indicator
of the major political and cultural players of theriod, as well as a stark reminder
of the social issues and attitudes towards rad@mihe city.

1.3.19 By 1870 the corporation stables were firmly es&igdd at Smithdown Lane and a
number of businesses had sprung up alongside #idestwhich furnished the
stable yard with provisions. The information belaesvtaken from an abstract
showing the expenditure of the established stadntd gnd includes a breakdown of
costs, although it does not provide information thie number of horses or
employees (H352 COU 1870).

1.3.20 In 1872 further expansion was required to the stallrd complex and again the
council turned to William Tomkinson and Son to fdate the construction of a
store room under the cart sheds. The work wasechwut for the sum of £42
(H352 COU/1872).

Expense £. S. d.
Provender 1,111 17 0
Hay and Straw 498 3 4
Wages of Men 483 18 6
Rent &Taxes 29 3 6
Gas, water & Rent 43 4 1
Repairing Harnesses 47 14 10
Coals and Coke 34 17 8
Horse shoes, Irons an 52 8 10
Nails
Oil and Tallow 41 14 1
Licences for Horses 44 8 0
Brooms and Brushes 15 19 10
Horse Physic 7 19 3
Repairs 16 6 8
Insurance 7 10 6

For use of RA Fisk Associates and Goldcrest Findride
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Cooking Stoves 10 7 9
Miscellaneous Charges 17 10 9
Total 2,463 4 7

1.3.21 By 1876 the further increase in the size of thévlstgyard and the number of
scavengers employed there meant that a pay riseahéormen in charge was
warranted. The proceedings of the council note dhathe §' January, 1876 it was
resolved ‘that the salaries of the following offisen the Scavenging Dept. Be
increased viz:

1. Mr Edward Lancaster, Wharf Manager, from £2-#s2er week.

2. Mr James Reynolds, Horse-Keeper and Store-Ke&pmeithdown Lane Stables
from 39s to 46s per week.” (H352 COU 1875/76).

1.3.22 This entry into the council proceedings highligthts fact that although Smithdown
Lane played a vital part in the management of wasté manure in the city, there
were other posts relating to sanitation and wast@agement in other locations
throughout the city.

1.3.23 This role would have been of particular significarat the docks where it was of
vital importance that the quay side was kept cleaargo was to be loaded and
unloaded at maximum speed. Additionally, rotterusefand manure on the docks
would have encouraged the rats and other vermiohmivas a serious issue as they
lived in the holds of ships, feasted on organiggoas and also spread pestilence
and disease.

1.3.24 The council records note that the stable yards vedétexed in 1881 with Mr H
Tomkinson charging £28 for alterations relatingptambing and slating (H352
COU 1881/82). This requirement for both plumbingl astating alterations is a
clear indicator that another element or building baen added to the existed fabric
of the stable. On"5 July 1882 the proceedings of the council note thatas
resolved ‘that the tender of Messrs. William Joaed Co for the alterations and
repairs at Smithdown Lane Stables for the sum 8Bfi$ accepted..(H 352 COU
1881/82).

1.3.25The OS Map of 1890 (Fig 7) shows the developmerthefstable yard with the
Corporation Central Stables clearly marked to thétls of the railway cutting. By
this point the map indicates that the northerntezasand southern stable blocks
and associated domestic dwellings (69 and 73 Smithd_ane) were present. The
western block is incomplete but dotted lines betwélee cart sheds and the
veterinarians house (No 73) suggest that plans aieeady in place to construct
the final element of the western block. This magoathows the location of the
Ramsbottom Chimney located directly north of tredk block.

1.3.26 Further work was carried out at the stable yardd82 with Messrs WH Bleakley
& Co (Birkenhead) being contracted to undertake rikeessary alterations and
additions to the Veterinary Superintendent’'s Hogse 73), Smithdown Lane
Stables. As usual, the work was carried out to ipations prepared by the City
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Engineer, and the work was completed for the sum£898 (H352 COU
1893/1894).

1.3.27 The OS map of 1908 (Fig 8) shows the stable yalthte been completed with all
four blocks now in place, including the additionade in 1892 to the north side of
number 73 Smithdown Lane. The four blocks are gedraround an open central
cobbled courtyard accessible via a single gatewdfieanorth-west corner of the
site opposite the entrance to Blanche Street.

1.3.28 By 1935, despite the increasing usage of motorckehi a census showed that there
were still more than 5000 heavy horses workingrid around Liverpool (Clarke
1989, 37). This is a testament to both the strewttradition and the fact that
many old cities like London and Liverpool had numes roads and courts which
were so narrow they could only be accessed by fmordeart.

1.3.29 By the mid 1940s the need to compete with motorckes for speed and efficiency
in delivery and logistics was increasing. This cetitpon led to an increasing
number of businesses turning to motor vehicles apandoning the traditional
horse and cart which had stood them in good st&asbflong. The displacement of
the horse from the British town was further spumeddy local council regulations.
It became policy thatin order to obtain an ‘A’ licence (for a motor vele) they
had to prove they had disposed of three horddewever, there was now no
market for the unwanted horses. Clark states thet a conservative estimate that
nationally at least 100,000 horses were slaughtereti947 and the same amount
in 1948 (Clarke 1989, 37).

1.3.30 This change, coupled with the effects of subsiderezulted in the eastern block of
stables being demolished in 1944. The easternestdbtk was located above one
of the tunnels constructed by Joseph Williamsonctvimad caused the stable block
to subside substantially. Photographs taken byiheEngineers in 1944 show the
north-facing elevation of the block to be heavitppped and shored.

1.3.31 The 1950 Ordnance Survey map (Fig 9) (25” to 1 hslows the area of the stable
yard to be almost identical in configuration tottlsaown on the map of 1900.
There is only one small addition, namely a shedheneast-facing elevation of the
western stable block. By this date the complex stasounded by terraced houses
to the west and south; development to the norttvelrer, had been limited by the
presence of the railway cutting and the now redohBamsbottom Chimney.

1.3.32 More significant is the fact that by 1956, the Gugiion horse population had
dwindled to a mere 46 animals, all of which worked the city cleansing
department (refuse collection). They were not abked at Smithdown Lane stable
yard but were spread across the city at varioustdesreen Lane housed eleven
horses, Smithdown Road housed six horses, Lavracik Boused nine, there were
two stabled at Lark Lane, but Smithdown Lane gtittvided accommodation for
eighteen horses (Clarke 1989, 39).

1.3.33 By 1957, the Lord Mayor’'s Coach and horses were ataised at the Corporation
Stable Yard. At this time the stable yard was swiped by Richard Wilson who
held the title of City Cleansing Superintendente Mard had also been given over
for use by the City Engineers as well and so wagirsg as a base for three very
different groups of council employees. This mixesk walso indicates why later
modifications to the stable yard buildings wererded to be necessary, including
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the subdivision of the northern block to accommedatmixture of heavy horses
and those horses used only during ceremonial cotssi

1.3.34 The Lord Mayor's Coach was housed at the CorparaStable Yard, probably
since the Corporation Stable Yards opened, ay#ngswas the closest Corporation
owned yard to the city centre. Designed and buili820 by Gorst and Co, the
carriage makers on Great Charlotte Street. Theagarcost £380 to build and,
apart from the addition of the coat of arms by lgcaartist WH Starkey in 1907
and renovations in 1927 including the addition reish gold leaf, it has remained
largely unchanged since its original constructidfhittington-Egan 1957).

1.3.35 Walter Holden, the Lord Mayors Coachman was basettieastable yard at this
time and was responsible for the six carriage lsok&pt there. Whittington-Egan
states thatThese horses came from Holland and are specialgctsl for the job.
They are all beautiful animals and stand seventeands high — an essential
gualification this — and their stud names are YorKeoman, Yarrow, Walnut,
Wanderer and Wellington, though they are knownctifieately, if less grandly, as
Bobby, Dick, Prince, Teddy, Laddie and Porky. Appdy, it is a convention of the
stable never to address a horse by its stud h&mhittington-Egan 1957).

1.3.36 The south-eastern limit of the eastern stable bl@okated north of the extant
section relating to the Williamson Tunnels Herita@entre) was demolished in
1968 (D Bridston pers comm) in order the facilitdte clearing of the land of
redundant structures.

1.3.37 In 1984, under the Hatton regime, the role of Lbtdyor was abolished and the
mayor’s coach was moved to Croxteth Hall whereaswlaced on display to the
general public. The western block was demolishedthat end of 2000 in
anticipation of further student developments . Bhsements of the Veterinarian’s
house remainedh-situ and were simply in-filled using rubble generated the
demolition process.

1.3.38 Although the presence of cart horses and cartdisigity has now been consigned
to the past, the impact and services of the haasesmen who once worked the
streets and quays of Liverpool has recently beeroied by the unveiling of a
plaque on Scotland Road 2003 and more recentlyag 2010, with the unveiling
of an eight foot statue of a cart horse on the gudayat the Albert Dock.
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2. METHODOLOGY

2.1
211

2.1.2

2.2
221

2.2.2

2.2.3

224

PROJECT DESIGN

A project design submitted by OA NortAgpendix ] was used as the basis for this
investigation, and was checked and approved birseyside Archaeologist. The
project design was adhered to in full, and the weas consistent with the relevant
standards and procedures of the Institute of Fhelthaeologists, and generally
accepted best practice.

The project design required that the recording heéettaken to English Heritage
Level 3 standards (2006). No record of the sousiteza section of the stable yard
complex was compiled as these structures will ramaxtant as part of the
Williamson Tunnels Heritage Centre complex, whishoperated by the Joseph
Williamson Society.

BUILDING INVESTIGATION

Descriptive Record: written records to English Heritage Level 3 (2DQ&ing OA
North pro formarecord sheets, were made of all principal buildegments, both
internal and external, as well as any features istohcal or architectural
significance. Particular attention was paid torgélationship between those areas of
the building where its development, and any alienat could be observed. These
records are essentially descriptive, although joregation is carried out on site as
required.

Site drawings: the drawings produced were, for the most part, bapen existing
architects survey data supplied by the client. Takowing drawings were
produced:

« Plans of the ground floor, and first floor of thmlde buildings, showing the
form and location of any structural features oftdnie significance. Produced
for output at 1:100 scale;

* Principal southern and western external elevatmnhe buildings. Produced
for output at 1:50 scale.

Plans and Elevations. the plan and elevations were created by a combmaif
manual and instrument survey. A reflectorless tstation (Leica 805) was used to
generate the plans of these buildings, which wggdd using a pen computer. The
drawings were created within an industry-standafd(ackage (Autocad 2004)
for the production of the drawings, which were trethanced and annotated to
show the form and location of all structural featuof historic significance. The
additional detail was created by means of manualeyuand the annotation of
paper copies.

The elevations were compiled by rectified pgoaphy using a 13 megapixel
digital SLR camera. The multiple photographs weified, corrected and merged
together using Photoplan software. This provideduseate imagery depicting all
decorative and significant brickwork and masonughsas quoins, tracery, window
and door surrounds.

For use of RA Fisk Associates and Goldcrest Findride © OA North: May 2011



Smithdown Lane, Corporation Stable Yards, Mersey$dilding Survey Report 14

2.2.5 Photographs. photographs were taken in both monochrome print high-
resolution digital. The photographic equipment cdsgdl medium-format film
cameras both with fixed lenses and with rising fspand 35mm SLR and 35mm
high resolution DSLR cameras respectively. Thetdigmages were produced in
both JPEG and RAW formats (in .CR2 format). Thetpbmphic archive consists
of general images of the building, both internall @xternal, and detailed internal
and external scaled coverage of architectural aedordtive features and/or
structural detail.

2.3 ARCHIVE

2.3.1 A full professional archive has been compiled incadance with current IFA and
English Heritage guidelines (English Heritage 1991 paper and digital archive
will be deposited with the Merseyside Record Offocecompletion of the project,
and a paper copy will be sent to Merseyside Arcluageal Service.
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3. BUILDING SURVEY RESULTS

3.1
3.1.1

3.2
3.2.1

INTRODUCTION

The buildings subject to investigation compriseel tlorth block of the Corporation
Stable Yard, Smithdown Lane, which comprises Nd&S&%thdown Lane (Figs 3,

10 and 11) a two-storey domestic dwelling with assed yard and outhouse built
to accommodate the Storekeeper and Horsekeepee {fhao mention of whether
both jobs were carried out by one individual), &nel extant remains of what was
called No 71 Smithdown Lane (a large stable blagable of accommodating 16
horses, cart rooms, drying room, cookhouse andge laayloft (Figs 10 and 11).
Each element of the buildings was inspected in,ttine results of which are
outlined below. These buildings were once surrodntte the south by other
contemporary elements of the stable yard and toniwth by a large brick

ventilation chimney that was designed by John Rasin in 1871.

GENERAL LAYOUT OF THE BUILDINGS

The buildings are orientated broadly east/west linear arrangement at the north
end of the development plot (Plate 1). The northAig elevation of the stable
building also defines the northern limit of the (pldhe west-facing elevation of the
house and the stable yard both overlook SmithdoameLin particular Smithdown
Lane Police Station, although when they were oalijynconstructed they would
have been located directly opposite the eastern @n@lanche Street (now
demolished). The east-facing elevation of the stinecbutts directly against the
sandstone wall which demarcates the line of the elLiBtreet Tunnel and,
consequently, is not visible.

Plate 1: Aerial view showing south- and west-faahgyations of the surviving north

block of Smithdown Lane Corporation Stable Yard

3.2.2 To the rear (north) of the buildings is a smalamgular plot of land owned by

Network Rail and leased as private storage to RantiProperty Services. This site
was previously occupied by the now demolished Rathsin Ventilation Chimney
which was designed and constructed in 1871 by J®amsbottom to provide
improved mechanical ventilation to the passengdwag tunnel. The site is
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3.2.3

3.24

3.2.5

3.3

3.3.1

3.3.2

3.3.3

bordered to the north-east by the boundary walthef Lime Street Tunnel. The
tunnel measures 1.72km long and is 24m deep, hdweeg quarried through the
pink sandstone bedrock. The tunnel extends fromeHdid station to Lime Street
station where it terminates.

The earlier structure was a two-storey domesticsepiNo 69 Smithdown Lane

(Plate 2), at a subsequent date the stable bloskadded (71 Smithdown Lane).
Following the addition of later cart sheds and akcbouse (the extant elements of
Number 71 Smithdown Lane), the buildings now gike butward appearance of
one large block.

There are two main entrances to No 69 SmithdowrelLane via a door in the
west-facing elevation which opens onto Smithdownd_éPlate 2) and the other in
the south-facing elevation, which would have opeoetb the cobbled central yard
of the stable complex. Both doors lead to the seeméral L-shaped corridor within
the building.

There are two main surviving entrances to the stddbck (No 71 Smithdown

Lane); one on the west-facing elevation of thelstata double doors, which open
onto Smithdown Lane (Plate 3), and the other thnotingg two cart sheds on the
south-facing elevation, which open onto the centyatd. All other rooms

associated with the stable block, including theirdyyroom, hay loft and cook

house, can be accessed by their own individualsjadr of which are situated in
the south-facing elevation.

69 SVITHDOWN LANE: EXTERNAL DETAILS

This is a red brick, two-storey domestic dwellitagated at the south-west of the
surviving stable block and accessible from bothtBdown Lane and the central
stable courtyard. Due to the unstable nature ofsthecture only the ground floor
was fully investigated, although photographs of wipper floor were taken from a
vantage point on the stairs. Several of the fi@drfrooms, however, are without
flooring and the building has been condemned imdapendent engineering report
(Wright 2010).

Fabric: the exterior of 69 Smithdown Lane is constructedeafdish-brown brick,
arranged in English Garden Wall bond (ratio of ¢hrews of stretchers to one row
of headers) with a cream/white sandy lime mortae Building was constructed in
1868 to provide accommodation for the Storekeepersekeeper. The building
has a gabled roof with a small loft space and reetveent. The west- and south-
facing elevations are embellished by the presehstriag courses of Staffordshire
blue brick. There is a lack of continuity in theirsg course, however, as the west-
facing elevation has five string courses pickedinuhe Staffordshire blue brick,
while the south-facing elevation has only two graourses which correspond with
the basal level of the shouldered arches abovgrend and first floor windows
and door. The west-facing elevation is also deedratith a red brick denticulated
string course, which is located directly below daees (Plate 2).

The roof is gabled with a shallow peak. The roompases grey slates overlain
over a timber frame with an undecorated stone vergetially clad in lead flashing.
The chimney stack is located at the south-eastdditiee roof.
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3.34

3.3.5

3.3.6

3.3.7

3.3.8

3.4
3.4.1

Principal elevation (west facing): the main features of the principal elevation (Fig
14) are four tall single-hung arched windows ancbmplementing, very narrow
arched doorway. The ground floor comprises one eafckash window with a
sandstone lintel and surmounted by a shoulderat lrich. Similarly, the door is
surmounted by a shouldered red brick arch.

The exterior doorway is a frame and filled doorhwihe planks arranged in a
diagonal configuration within the frame. The lint@ms and sill are all without
embellishment reflecting the utilitarian naturetiogé premises. Access to this door
was gained via one small stone step leading dyrdatim Smithdown Lane. The
arched transom above the door incorporates a spagle of plain glass (Plate 2).
There are three first floor windows, with a singled one paired arrangement. All
these windows are arched, single-hung, single-dlaash windows with sandstone
lintels and are surmounted by semi-circular redkbairches.

South-facing elevation: the south-facing elevation (Plate 4; Fig 12) Hasd tall
windows; one window on the ground floor and two tbe first floor. All three
windows are single-hung, single-glazed sash windewsnounted by red brick
shouldered arches comparable to the shouldered stytd that is on the west-
facing elevation. The Staffordshire blue brick $ngtring course continues from
the west-facing elevation and crosses each windaweabase of each shouldered
arch. This elevation only possesses two string sasur Access is via a single
doorway (no door surviving) to a small L-shapedivaay. The south-facing
elevation to the rear of the building has less wretation than the west-facing
elevation as it would only have been visible frdre tnain courtyard, and was not
designed to be viewed from the street.

East-facing elevation: the east-facing elevation is viewed from a smalledayard
containing a privy and a lean-to outhouse buildifilgis elevation is characterised
by the presence of a single door at ground floeelland a single window at the
northern limit of the elevation. As before, the danv is a single-hung, single-
glazed sash window surmounted by a shouldered @are is no string course or
other ornamentation on this elevation. Limited asct the yard meant that the
doorway could not be inspected from the outsideer&his no internal access
between the house and the stable (Plate 5).

North-facing elevation: the original north-facing external elevation of theuse is
now an internal wall of Roonl5 of the stable block. It was not recorded
independently and is discussed as part of the eouthall of rooml5.

69 MTHDOWN LANE : INTERNAL DETAILS

The building plan is orientated east/westteriang axis (Fig 10); it was designed
for domestic use only and may have accommodateidgéesperson, or a small
family. The ground floor is divided into four roonfiRoomsl-4); a living room (),
hallway @) providing access to the exterior and to the fimtr, a dining room or
parlour @) and a small kitchend]. All rooms on the ground floor have poured
concrete floors and the ceilings are of lathe dadtpr construction between timber
beams. The first floor was not fully investigatesl water damage and partial
removal of the floor meant that there was no satess. A brief visual inspection
undertaken from the stairwell showed that thereewleur doors leading from a
small square central hallway. Three doors led tdrd@ms, while the fourth, a
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3.4.2

3.4.3

3.4.4

3.4.5

narrower door on the south side of the hallwayeappto be a cupboard or similar
storage area. Above the central hallway an accasshhnto the loft space was
visible.

Living Room (1): this room was accessed via a single door on tlhseall
leading to hallway 2), the living room is 4.1m by 3.1m in size and israall
rectangular room orientated north/south on its largs with one window in the
western wall (Plate 6). A 1.6m wide chimney braaspresent on the north wall,
although the original fireplace has been replaceth v 1970s ceramic tiled
surrounded. This would have presumably been accombeby an electric fire,
which has subsequently been removed. The ceilingeisorated with a basic
moulded cornice and the floor is a poured concsktie. There are no other features
of note within this room.

Hallway (2): A 4.4m by 0.9m L- shaped hallway which can be aseg®xternally
by doors on the west- and south-facing elevatidPlat¢ 7). This narrow hall
provides a linking space between the living rody the parlour ) and the first
floor via a narrow wooden staircase (first floort mavestigated). The hallway is
illuminated by the presence of transoms over batbrs&l The southern wall of the
hallway is the southern external wall of the howdsi)e the north wall is a partition
wall comprising plaster over a timber frame. Ashnalll ground-floor rooms in the
house, the floor is constructed of poured concs&b. The staircase comprises a
straight narrow flight of 15 wooden stairs (Plate véhich curve at the top to
provide access to a small open hallway.

Parlour (3): the parlour is a small rectangular room measurir@m3by 3.3m
orientated east/west on its long axis and can lbesaed via the hallway)(and
from the kitchen 4). This rectangular room had been badly affectedwayer
ingress (much like the rest of the building). Tloaith and east walls of the room
comprise red brick obscured behind layers of ptastel wallpaper (Plate 9). A
single window in the south facing-elevation woulavl provided an aspect over
the central stableyard area, but is now blockead West and north walls of the
room are partition walls. The east wall is primaolccupied by a projecting brick
chimney breast. The original fire place and fireraund have been removed and
replaced with a twentieth century grey ceramic silground. Two mid-twentieth
century timber-framed corner cupboards are buiti the recesses on either side of
the fireplace. There is no evidence of originavauang decor, such as cornices or
other moulding. All of the fixtures, fittings andcbr in the room date to the late
1960s or early 1970s, indicating that there has ltig#e or no maintenance since
that period.

Kitchen (4): this is a small rectangular room orientated east/wa its long axis

(Plate 10), and can be accessed via the parB)uand via an exterior door on the
eastern wall (east-facing elevation of the buildlimghich leads to the small

enclosed yard with lean-to outhouse and privy. Kitehen is illuminated by a

small sash window in the eastern wall. A single @ero door on the west wall
provides access to an under stairs cupboard. Tle dppears to have been
handmade and is divided into four panels by a aémuntin. The kitchen floor is

of poured concrete with reddish brown unglazedroerdile arranged as a runner
down the long axis of the room. All fixtures antifigs within the kitchen are later
additions and are not contemporary with the consitn of the building.
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3.4.6

3.5
3.5.1

3.5.2

3.5.3

Rear Yard and Exterior Space: there was only limited access to the yard, but
elements of the yard could be observed and phqgtbgrh from the stable yard
courtyard and from an aerial view from the rooftbé Smithdown Lane Police
Station (Plate 1). The yard space was created lgxternal red brick wall to the
south constructed of red brick with the continuatad the blue brick string course
below a row of six yellow sandstone coping storiéss wall effectively boxes in
the space between the house, the south-facingtiele\a the northern stable block
and the west-facing elevation of what was previpubkle smithy. The yard is
divided into two roughly-equal halves by a red kngall orientated north/south.
The western half is an open yard and the eastertiopocomprises a lean-to
outhouse and privy with sloping slate roof. Botleneénts of the yard can be
accessed via the central courtyard.

71 SNTHDOWN LANE: EXTERNAL DETAILS

71 Smithdown Lane is the last major survivoagtion of the Corporation Stable
Yard (Plates 1 and 11) and comprises the northiexck of the stable yard. It has
eleven individual rooms and comprises at leasethnajor phases of activity within
the development of the stable yard taking placevéend 1868 and 2001. The stable
yard is a representative example of utilitarian Ipeidk architecture with minimal
decoration or embellishment. Contemporary with ke of this stable yard were
Edge Hill stables (located opposite Edge Hill Statiand stables at Lark Lane,
Laverock Bank and Smithdown Road, all of which werenstructed in a
comparable utilitarian red brick style with infreani elements of decoration. They
did sometimes include decoration to compliment aurding buildings, for
example. the Edge Hill stable yard has a northafpdacade of pink sandstone so
as to match the style and design of the nearby Higt&ain station.

The building is a two-storeyed constructiomeaf brick in a simple English Garden
Wall bond with a greyish-white coloured sandy limmrtar bond. Despite the
buildings functional nature, elements of decoratiwa present on the south- and
west-facing elevations, and include the continuatbbthe Staffordshire blue brick
string course and the denticulated string courseyell as brick arches above the
main entrances, pink sandstone lintels at the wiusdand a circulaoeil de boeuf
window at the level of the first floor hay loft. €building has a twin gabled roof
of which the northern section is clad in welshesldhe southern section is clad in
modern curved concrete roof tile.

The principal (south-facing) elevation: the south-facing elevation is orientated
east/west on its long axis and is constructed dbreck (Plate 11; Figs 12 and 13).
The facade is broken up by seven doors and ond wmnalow at ground floor level
which allow access into the individual rooms (rods6, 7, 8, 10, 12 and13). Five

of the seven doors are large arched doorways das$igm facilitate access for
horses and/or carts into the various parts of tmeptex, while the smaller doors to
rooms8 and5 lead to the hay loft and cookhouse. As previousigcdibed, despite
the functionality of the stables they have retaiaed continued the elements of
decoration present on the exterior of 69 Smithdokane. This is a blue
Staffordshire brick string course which is presenthree bands across the south-
facing elevation (below the eaves, below the filsor windows and below the
level of the springers for the ground floor arcliEsbrways). The building has the
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3.54

3.5.5

3.5.6

3.5.7

3.5.8

same denticulated string course beneath the eadesh(was previously described
for No 69 Smithdown Lane).

The eastern part of the south-facing elevasatiearly a later addition; the brick
type is very different, being more homogeneougsrcolouring. The Staffordshire
blue brick string course also runs out at this psumggesting that by the time this
section of the structure was added, aesthetics merenger under consideration
and were over ridden by the pragmatic requiremenitscrease the available space.

The upper floor (hayloft) of the south-faciapvation is characterised by three
windows with quite different functions. The west@wst window is a circulaoeil

de boeufhighlighted with a decorative border of blue Stadfshire brick which
matches the string course. The central and eastigrows are rectangular with
badly-weathered yellow sandstone sills and timingels. The easternmost window
is surmounted by a small timber gabled overhangamoing the remnants of a hoist
mechanism which would have been used for raisihgshat hay and sacks of feed
to and from the hay loft.

North-facing elevation: the north-facing elevation is constructed in thens red
brick and bond type as the south-facing elevatibms.unremarkable and is lacking
in the decorative detail and finish which charasts the other elevations of the
structure, and has no Staffordshire blue brickngticourse or denticulated string
course. The ground floor has thirteen rectanguladews spaced in three distinct
groups and at the western end are six evenly-spacetbws. The central area is
characterised by three windows clustered tightyetber and the eastern end of the
elevation has four evenly-spaced windows. All c¢ thindows are contemporary
with the original structure but have now been kettlkup from the outside. The
arrangement of the windows reflects the interimision of space and corresponds
with rooms11, 14 and15. The first floor is characterised by a single, Brequare
window located in the upper eastern corner whichuldidhave illuminated the
capacious first floor hay loft. While the windowave no pronounced sills, the
primary course below the window comprises one @uwfsrowlocks picked out
using Staffordshire blue brick and complementsihe brick used in the string
course on the opposite side of the building. Ituithdoe remembered that for the
majority of the building’s life, the north facingesation was largely obscured by
the presence of the Ramsbottom Chimney.

West-facing elevation: the west-facing elevation of 69 and 71 Smithdovamd.
overlooks Smithdown Lane (Plate 3; Fig 14); althotige northern 71 Smithdown
lane is a later build it incorporates the samedingj character and decoration as the
southern 69 Smithdown Lane. This elevation is attarssed by five bands of
Staffordshire blue brick string coursing correspogdwith those present on the
house. The west-facing elevation also represeetg#ble end of the stable block
and where the locations of beams are picked ouhéyresence of five sandstone
guoins at the roof line which contrast with the beatk structure.

A double door located at the north side of wlestern elevation provides access
from Smithdown Lane to the western group of stalb®m 15). The double doors

are surmounted by a rectangular transom now blogk#d a purpose-made iron

cover and by a shouldered brick arch. The placewfahie door at the northern end
of the elevation mirrors the door to number 69 &doivn Lane at the southern
limit of the elevation provides the appearance @fibce and a certain degree of
symmetry. The single large window in the centretr@f elevation has a wooden
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lintel and brick arch. This window is also equippsdh a hoist mechanism but
lacks the overhanging shelter present on the dawihg elevation.

3.5.10External Landscaping: the landscaping outside the building is largelytated by

3.6
3.6.1

3.6.2

3.6.3

the function of the buildings and by the surrougdilandmarks, the most
significant of which are Smithdown Lane to the wastl the Lime Street railway
cutting to the north (Plate 1). The eastern linithe site is created by a substantial
vertical brick wall that marks the rear of the MasBtreet properties (formerly
merchants houses but now are either empty plossnail businesses). The central
area of the site is a flat cobbled courtyard whaaluld have been used for storage
and as a space in which to exercise or train theeso

71 SNTHDOWN LANE: INTERNAL DETAILS

The interior of the Corporation Stable Yardvrammprises eleven adjoining rooms
including the cook hous®), the boiler room with access to the coal cel@y the
drying room {), the staircase to the first floor haylo8)(the store room9), cart
rooms (0) and (2) stables 11, 14 and 15) and the former blacksmiths
workshop/forge 13), which has undergone modification for use as dditenal
cart room or storage area (Fig 11).

The Corporation Stable Yard is divided intyniaato two main areas; the southern
block, which comprises a number of small rooms uasedvorkshop and storage
areas, and the northern block, which is an areangiover exclusively to the
housing and grooming of horses. The first floorlbtiyspans both of these areas
and is an expansive open plan room. The hayloft weasnvestigated or recorded
at this time due to the poor structural stabilifytlee first floor. The remaining
elements of the stable yard represent the surviglaments of a once much larger
entity, and the stable yard in its current confedion represents at least three
phases of alteration which are directly linkedhe tlownsizing of the city stud and
the gradual move away from horses and carts totiter vehicle.

Cook House (Room 5): the cook house is the south-eastern element diuheing
and is not part of the original build (Plate 12heTexterior of the cook house is
constructed in red brick; however, the bricks amotceably more modern fabric
than the other brick used in the 72 Smithdown L&womb5 is an irregular-shaped
open plan room with no partitions or false walleeTeast, west and south walls are
constructed of red brick; however, the north walhich runs diagonally from
south-east to north-west, is constructed of pinklaassandstone masonry in an
irregular bond arrangement and is actually the ugpeuthern) boundary wall of
the Lime Street Railway cutting which forms the thern limit of the site. The
room5 extension has been formed by butting an addititmale walls against the
existing face to form a room. The cook house igattarised by the presence of a
substantial brick chimney breast butted against rtbgh wall (Plate 13). The
fireplace has a two rowlock segmental-arched dimtkls supported on steel plate.
The fireplace has been modified from an open ratge- cooker to a smaller
aperture with a metal plate, refractory brick backl central grate for the removal
of ashes. A large metal paddle in the centre offitteplace may have helped to
direct heat during the cooking process. The floasworiginally paved with
substantial rectangular stone slabs; however, thgrity of these have been
removed.
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3.6.4

3.6.5

3.6.6

3.6.7

A large timber-framed, 32 light, window segteehby slender timber muntins is
located in the eastern wall and spans almost thieeemidth of the wall (Plate 12)

and provides a clear view down the length of theclklto the main gate. The
window sits between a badly-weathered pink sanéstsill and an RSJ,

representing a structurally integral element of ékension of the stable building.
The room is accessed by a single door on the daathg elevation. It is clear from

the narrow size of the door that this is one offdvwe rooms in the stable yard that
was not designed to provide access for horseselhssvpeople.

Boiler Room (Room 6): the boiler room (Plate 14) is located north-welsthe
cookhouse (roorb), south of the stable (roofiri) and east of drying room (roovm
section 3.6.Y. The interior of this room is characterised bylecorated red brick
walls which butt against the pink sandstone wathefLime Street Railway cutting
at the north-east corner of the room. Access tohihiéer room is via a large
doorway through the south-facing elevation. Therday is surmounted by a three
rowlock segmental brick arch, and would origindtigve allowed the room to be
accessed by horses as well as the stablemen. Théas been filled by a timber
frame with a smaller pedestrian door insert. Thenras illuminated by a small
arched window located to the east of the door thinoilne south-facing elevation.
This window is the only window within the complexhieh is fitted with fixed
timber slats, rather than glass, thus allowing tamtsventilation to prevent it
becoming too hot.

The original furnace and chimney are locatethe north wall of the room and are
constructed of white refractory bricks. The mouthihe furnace and the draw hole
are small apertures, low down on the eastern didleeostructure. Adjacent to the
furnace and chimney breast are a concrete plinthaeamodern ¢ 1960s) boiler
with associated flue and control panel. The floomprises unevenly-finished
poured concrete slab, but there is an apertur@igfrehe floor (now in-filled) that
previously led, via a narrow set of timber stejpsthe coal cellar (Plate 15). The
circular coal hole, edged with a band of iron, til sisible in the granite setts
outside the south-facing elevation (Plate 16). Aditonal brick arch (arch same
as previously describeskction 3.6.bdoorway in the eastern wall provides access
to a small ante-chamber (function unknown) at th&t side of the room (Plate 17).
This wall represents the eastern gable of the imgléand supports the timber
beams for the first floor hay loft.

Drying Room (Room 7): a small rectangular room located to the west ofimr®
and to the south of stable rodth (Plate 18), and is characterised by the bare red
brick walls and its functional nature. The maintieas are two heating pipes
mounted on short brackets set into the concretw tio create three equally-sized
bays. The remnants of brackets, corresponding @atth bay, are suspended from
the ceiling. This room has been referred to agithimg room and the abundance of
heating pipes supports this idea. This room is e/ack, clothing or possibly even
the coaches themselves were left to dry. The dryoum has no windows and
there is evidence that modern strip lighting wadeadat a later date. The large
arched brick doorway would have been the only mhtource of light to the room,
and it must be assumed that there was once a tiddweway associated with this
room in order to retain the heat; however, it islowger present and there is no
evidence of hinges or a catch.
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3.6.8

3.6.9

Stairwell/Access to first floor (Room 8): the staircase is located directly south of
room9 and west of roon7. This narrow set of quarter-turn wooden stairs/joles
access directly from the central stable courtyarthé first floor hay loft (Plate 19).
The staircase is constructed of timber with timband rails and plain spandrels.
The stairs comprise vertical risers with a curvedsing and undecorated
stringboard on both sides. The sixth, seventh agltle stair represent the winder
section; the stairhead opens onto the open plsinflimor loft.

Store Room (room 9): the store room is located to the north of rad®and can only
be accessed via coach rodfd (Section 3.6.10 It is a narrow rectangular room
orientated north/south on its long axis. The doathe store room is accessed via a
shallow concrete ramp and the poured concrete fidathe store room itself is
slightly raised above the level of the adjacentcboeom, presumably to prevent
the ingress of water into a room which may haveest@xpensive medicines or
dried goods. The western wall and door of the stooen are later additions, with
the wall being constructed in a simple stretchendostyle and a square concrete
lintel over the door matches the other later dogsyancluding the doors to stable
roomsl1l and13. There are no windows in this room, but the sauttl east walls
are lined with wooden shelves on metal brackefadtitate storage. There are no
decorative elements to this room.

3.6.10 Coach Room (Room 10): a small square room (Plate 20) located to the ofetbte

storeroom (roon®) and the staircase (roo8). It is very similar to the adjacent
coach rooml2 (Section 3.6.1p6 It is accessed via a large carriage door thrabgh
principle facade, topped with a flat brick archdaalso by a concrete-linteled
doorway into stable rooml (Section 3.6.12 This latter doorway was a later
insertion. The southern doorway is large enoughllimv horses to pass through
and to admit a small coach or cart. A narrow deoothe eastern wall provides
access to store roof A large door in the northern wall of the room egvaccess
to the central stable ante-rooril). This doorway is characterised by bull-nosed
bricks and a rectangular timber plank sliding dser onto steel runners mounted
above a timber (oak) lintel.

3.6.11 The north and west walls of the coach room areeropbrary with the original

construction of the building. The floor of the roamnginally consisted of large
roughly-rectangular york stone slabs set into adbmeglof coarse sand, however the
majority of the floor has been removed leavingliedding exposed over the centre
of the space.

3.6.12 Stable and stalls (Room 11): located at the north-eastern limit of the buildantg

orientated east/west on its long axis, the roonmesmts one of the two principal
surviving elements designed to house the CorporaBtud. This room shows
evidence of modification and would have origindblgen accessible via roofid
(Section 2.6.20only; however, due to the addition of a doorhe south wall, it
can now be accessed via coach rddnThe room contains five stalls, divided by
substantial timber panel partitions (Plate 21). famels are undecorated aside
from the sweeping curve which defines their profil&e stalls are arrayed along
the southern wall and are orientated north/soudichEstall is fixed in place by one
of seven undecorated iron columns, with small ptapitals, which run the length
of the room on an east/west orientation (Plate Zhg iron columns support the
projecting end of the stalls and also support tlegglt of the timber roof beams
above.
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3.6.13 Light is provided by four windows in the north walthich are regularly-spaced
rectangular single-hung sash windows. These haga bearded up on the inside
and bricked up on the outside, so no view of thgimal windows was available in
this room. The floor is typically functional andraprises granite setts which slope
gently to a central channel, also constructed ajelagranite stone kerbs, which
channel water and urine to a central drain. Thehnamll is appointed with a
selection of blunted timber hooks and brackets Wwhiould have been used to
accommodate tack and other equipment used for gietemance of the horses and
the stable yard.

3.6.14 One of the stalls has been removed in order tditiei the later addition of a
doorway between roorfil and room10. This doorway is a rectangular aperture
without doors and surmounted by a large rectangedacrete lintel. The western
wall also features a blocked door (Plate 22). Therds contemporary with the
original construction of the northern stable bl@rid would have provided access
directly from stable roonil, through ante-rooni4 to a corresponding group of
stalls within stable rooni5 (Section 3.6.283 It is likely that this doorway was
bricked up at the same time the new door was iestlletween room#0 andl11.

3.6.15 Coach Room (Room 12): this roughly-square room is located west of coamnr
10 and east of the former blacksmiths workshtip $ection 3.6.1)7 Access to this
room is via a large arched doorway on the soutmgpelevation of the building.
The brick arch is constructed in the same mann@regously describedSgction
3.6.5 and the aperture has been enclosed by a timbherefrhousing an offset
double door with a modern steel catch and padlockngement. This doorway is
large enough to allow horses to pass through arattoit a small coach or cart
(Plate 23). A wide rectangular door in the westeall provides access to coach
room (3). This door is wide enough to admit both peopld horses and would
have originally provided access to the smithy ait@phorses to be moved between
the stalls and the smithy without leaving the huaidd The edge of the doorway was
constructed using bull-nosed bricks to provide @nded finish, thus reducing the
chance of injury to horses passing through the .ddbis doorway has been
narrowed and partially blocked with a planks sethimi a frame and an offset
pedestrian door. This latter feature post-datesctbsure of the smithy. A large
door in the northern wall of the room provides a&scé the central stable ante-
room (@4) and from there on to the stable and stallS).( This doorway is
characterised by a surround of bull-nosed brickd arrectangular timber plank
sliding door set onto steel runners mounted abduelzer (oak) lintel.

3.6.16 The north and west walls of the coach room areeropbrary with the original
construction of the building; however, modificatitohave been carried out to the
eastern wall; a new skin of modern bricks (stretdd@nd with grey cement mortar)
has been added to the interior face of the eadt Wa¢se have subsequently been
covered up by a plywood cladding mounted on a tmffaene; both additions post-
date the closure of the stable yard and have ezsuitthe narrowing of the room
by 0.4m. The floor of the room originally consistetllarge roughly-rectangular
york stone slabs set into a bedding of coarse dawever the majority of the floor
has been removed leaving the bedding exposed loweentre of the space.

3.6.17 Coach Room/ Former Blacksmiths (Room 13): this room was originally an
exterior space connected to the main yard (as evatkby the presence of a down
pipe inside the room on the south-facing elevatibthe north wall); however, the
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addition over the yard created an enclosed spadehwhlas then used as the
blacksmiths work room. An original feature of tlem was a chimney breast and
forge on the centre of the west-facing elevatioowéver, these have been
demolished and the only evidence indicating the#spnce is a visible scar on the
upper portion of the east wall, rising above thedoroof-line of rooml3 (western
gable of rooml2). The eastern wall retains elements of originatdees, including
two niches on either side of the former site of¢henney breast (Plate 24). as well
as a series of large metal pegs, hooks and chestraigng from the upper section
of the wall. The niches are timber-framed and hawe been used to accommodate
modern electric lighting, but may have been usduhitngy tools and other equipment
associated with the smithy. The main entrance idrea of the building is via a
large rectangular doorway flanked by bull-nosedKksi This doorway is wider than
all of the other doors on the south-facing elevgtiwowever, it has been modified
and repaired extensively to accommodate the latditian of a metal roller door.
As all the other brick arches are sprung from tbargse directly above the blue
Staffordshire brick string course, it does appdwt this doorway was always
without an arch over the entrance.

3.6.18 A large doorway (later modification) has been itesgrinto the north wall of the
former blacksmiths workshop to provide direct asc@#o the largest area of
stables and stallsl®). This doorway lacks the characteristic bull-nogeatks
observed at all the other original doors of thévlstaand is comparatively poorly
finished. It is supported from above by a large RiBtel suggesting that this
addition was made at the same time as the cookehoas added at the south-east
end of the complex.

3.6.19 The floor of the smithy corresponds with the flogriin the adjacent coach room
(12), suggesting that both rooms were originally destyto have a similar or inter-
related function. The floor, comprising large iméay-shaped York stone slabs,
slopes slightly from north to south, presumablyatlow drainage into the outer
yard.

3.6.20 Stable Ante-Room / Tack Room (Room 14): this rectangular room is orientated
east/west on its long axis and is located betweengroups of stable and stalls
and 15 and was designed as a thoroughfare between bistlofstalls (Plate 25).
The large doorway in the southern wall was desigiwedllow horses to move
between the outer yard and the stall via the caadm 12. The doorway is
characterised by bull-nosed bricks and has a soitstapak lintel. The original
doorway to stabldl in the eastern wall has been bricked up but thkneuof the
doorway, including the curve of the bull-nosed ksic is still visible. A
corresponding door way still exists in the westeral providing access to the
western block of stall$5.

3.6.21 This ante-room/ tack room contains many of the séeatures observed in rooms
11 and 15 and it is evident that all three rooms were comerary in design and
construction. This room contains only two timbeark stalls, both of which differ
slightly in design from the those in the adjoinir@ms suggesting that this space
may have been used to segregate horses perhagstidylwere groomed or fitted
with the harness and tack before being taken hmacburtyard to be hitched to the
carts or carriages. Both stalls would have beempated at the northern end by
vertical unembellished newel posts (probably halght); however, both have been
removed. Voids in the granite sett floor indicdte presence of the vertical posts;
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however, there is no scarring on the roof beanuggesst that they extended all the
way to the ceiling as they do in roohksand15. This room is illuminated by three
closely-positioned, large rectangular windows a@ nlorth wall. All windows have
been boarded up from the inside and bricked uphennirth-facing elevation;
however, it is fair to assume that the windows weeessed single-hung, single-
glazed sash windows in timber frames, as evideraom 15.

3.6.22 The floor is paved in a regular pattern of rectdaggranite setts aligned east/west
in a stretcher bond pattern. Unlike other sectiohshe stable yard there is no
central east/west orientated stone drainage chasungtesting that this area was
not intended for the long-term housing of horses.

3.6.23 Stable and stalls (Room 15): this section of the stable represents the largest
surviving room in the complex and is most represtve of the original shape and
design of the stables before they were sub-divagethe requirement for the stables
diminished (Plate 26). The room is orientated ea&stf on its long axis and
measures 15.6m long by 6m wide. Access was gair@the double door on the
west-facing elevation which opens directly onto ®ihdwn Lane. This doorway
lacks the bull-nosed bricks seen elsewhere ondhegplex and this and the fact that
it opens directly onto Smithdown Lane indicated ih& unlikely that it was ever
used as a point of entry and egress for the hdrsased here. Additionally, this
space can be accessed via the central courtyaodigith coach roomi3, and more
indirectly via coach roomi2 and ante-roomi4. The southern wall is lined with
nine stalls which could each comfortably accommedasingle horse. Only five of
the ten original partitions and their correspondnagvel posts survivevith at least
one of the timber panel partitions having been nmdoto facilitate the later
installation of a doorway between this room andcboaoom 13. Evidence of
missing panels exists in the form of iron brackatsthe corresponding columns
and scars on the granite sett floor.

3.6.24 Ten columns are aligned down the centre of the roanan east/west orientation;
each column corresponds with the northern end ftithber panelling for a stall
(Plate 27). These unembellished cast iron colurengesa double function as they
also provided support for the stalls and actedragsfor the central roof beams. Of
the columns, the two located at the eastern andewedéimits of the room are
engaged columns.

3.6.25 The floor is functional and comprises granite setisch slope gently to a central
channel also constructed of large granite stonlkeskehich channel water and urine
to a central drain. The north wall is also appaintéith a selection of blunted
timber hooks and brackets which would have beed ts@ccommodate tack and
other equipment used for the maintenance of theesor

3.6.26 Summary: as previously discussed, the rooms are largelydfeambellishment or
design thus emphasising their utilitarian functiblowever, the curving and well-
finished stalls and slim central columns providamaple elegance to the functional
space. Doors which were intended for use by hassesall characterised by the
presence of bull-nosed bricks, where the roundgg®dvould have prevented cuts
or abrasions to the animals as they moved aroumdtdble block. All rooms are
illuminated by large windows and by the later aidditof modern strip lighting.
The ceiling of all rooms on the ground floor is@tnuous beam ceiling with no
attempt at embellishment or decoration. The cerdeslm runs east/west and is
supported by the central row of cast iron columns.
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3.7 HRST FLOOR AND ROOF

3.7.1 A thorough survey of the first floor hay loft waotncarried out due to the
perceived instability and defective beams whichmfothe first floor. A brief
description is provided below as to the form andrahter of the roof structure on
the basis of historic photographs.

3.7.2 The trusses had a variant late-nineteenth centurg bf the traditional king post
design, with large principal rafters and strutsis&t an iron shoe at the junction
with the tie beams (Plate 28). In this design tedéams and the king post are both
iron rods, with the tie beams (rods) bolted to tese of the king post. The
principal rafters were keyed into the walls usingni shoes, which provided the
connection between these timbers and the tie beaaiss/The use of the narrow
iron rod for the king post and tie beams clearlyndestrates that these elements
operated only under tension, as they do not haedipacity to take compression
loads. The trusses supported single purlins oreegloping side of the roof and as
many as six pairs of common rafters supporteddb&between the two trusses.
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4. DISCUSSION

4.1
41.1

4.2
42.1

4.2.2

4.2.3

INTRODUCTION

The Corporation Stable Yard provides a good sckdngple of traditional stable
yard buildings. They do not completely conformhe tdeal notion of a stable yard
but it should be born in mind that traditionallyrga of this size were located in
more rural settings and this yard represents agdeshich has been transposed to
an inner city environment. The structure is ministand utilitarian in design with
a bare minimum of decorative elements on the extamd few embellishments in
the interior. The fixtures and fittings which areegent (such as stairs and lights)
are all very representative of cheap, functionalemals that were available at the
time of construction. Similarly, the evidence fbtietstable fittings, including the
harness hooks and harness brackets, are plainaand Blthough the Corporation
Stable Block undoubtedly lacks the architecturakedise traditionally associated
with corporation buildings that were constructediniy Liverpool’s heyday, they
do incorporate some distinctive decorative elemehtg were intended to be
viewed from within the courtyard. These include tiedd de boeufvindow and the
string course, which was included even in thoseelds of the structure that were
later additions.

PHASING

Phase 1. the existing elements of the Corporation StabledYmcluding the
Yardman’s House (69 Smithdown Lane) and the rensnainthe stable yard proper
(71 Smithdown Lane) represent four main phasesfity. It is likely that much
of the alteration to 71 Smithdown Lane was conteraowith the amalgamation
of the several different council enterprises, &limhich required the use of stable
facilities, the refuse wagons, the corporation syovs and the Lord Mayor’s
Coach. This occurred in the late 1950s and theiveltateness of the modifications
is supported by the types of material used, whictude pre-cast concrete lintels
for the new doorways.

The earliest phase identified during the coursthefbuilding survey is the extant
red brick house at 69 Smithdown Lane, which wa# boaihouse the yardman and
his family. It was constructed in 1868 as parthaf original building work to create
the new stable yard and, originally, it stood alatehe north-west corner of the
yard until the addition of the northern stable Blothe west-facing elevation of the
stables was bonded to that of the house and thkamorwall of the house became
the southern wall of the main stable (rod8).

The internal layout of the house is essentiallyhamged since its construction,
albeit with the addition of numerous fixtures aittirfgs have been added over the
years. These include the replacement of coal finés electric bar fires and newer
kitchen fittings in attempts to maximise the spaod bring the house up to date.
The building is now suffering heavily from wategness caused by a defective roof
and the deterioration of the building has been lacaged by the intentional
removal of much of the first floor timber floor brolg, which has led to water
ingress on the ground floor as well.
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4.2.4

4.2.5

4.2.6

4.3
43.1

Phase 2: the second phasec (1880s) identified during the course of the
investigation is the addition of the stable blogard and ancillary buildings which
forms the majority of the surviving structure. Teescond phase is well represented
as the majority of the rooms and structures assamtiaith the extant building
relate to this phase. All of the elements of thisicture were simply designed and
were furnished with the minimum of equipment howeivés clear that each room
was constructed with a definite purpose (eg theadrsoom and stables).

Phase 3: the third phasec(1890s) is represented by the addition of the camish

at the north-east limit of the extant northern klothis addition was contemporary
with the construction of the eastern-block of ttebkes (orientated north/south) and
was located against the eastern boundary walleokite. The addition of the cook
house provided an opportunity to expand the ardheofirst floor hayloft, and was
carried out by the partial removal and then reluogdf the south-east gable above
the boiler room §) and with the placement of an RSJ orientated Aedst/south-
east between the south-facing elevation of boiemr @) and the west-facing
elevation of the cook hous®&)( This addition is architecturally clumsy and a&xe
from the main hayloft to the area above the cooksbowas not via a properly
formed door or hatch but through a hole createdyable end of the original
elements of 71 Smithdown Lane. This extension Hearly caused subsequent
structural issues, as the areas surrounding theaRSdvhere there are the most
marked indications of stress and cracking in theklarork.

Phase 4: the fourth phasec(1950s) of modification that were identified duritige
investigation was the alteration to the second @Hasldings in order to allow
more than one business to operate out of the stabée Dlock. The large stable
block at the north side of the complex (now rodrhsl4 and15) was split into two
separate stables with their own independent agedissr than a shared access via
room 14. This modification included the bricking up foretldoorway in the east
wall of ante-rooml14 and the addition of new large open doorways (withibe
characteristic bull-nosed bricks) in the southemdlsvof roomsl11 and 15. Aside
from the addition of the two doorways, little inettway of fixtures and fittings
within the stable accommodate was altered so rtoispossible to suggest which
business used which section of the stable.

CONDITION ASSESSMENT

The building investigation and historic backgroward intended as a lasting record
of the last surviving elements of the Corporatiomb& Yard in its present
condition. An engineers report (Wright 2010) pra&ddevidence to suggest that the
structural integrity of the buildings has been selyeundermined by the constant
ingress of water since the closure of the stabid.yaurther to this, the structural
integrity of the timber beams, particularly thoséhee eastern end of the building in
room6, has been much diminished and this in turn hasdesdtith-facing elevation
presenting a noticeable bow being over 100mm (Wragli0, 2). The integrity of
the structure has been further undermined by thmoval of key elements such as
the floor boards in the first floor of the housedahe hayloft. This has allowed
water to percolate down from the roof and firstoflanto the ground floor. A
number of key features which helped to charactetise building, including
elements of the timber stall partitions, half heigbwel posts, smithy furnace and
York stone flooring, have also been removed. Thelined result of this is a
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4.4
44.1

4.5
45.1

4.5.2

building which is in very poor condition, both stturally and aesthetically. The
roof is in a poor state of repair with evidenceuofulations and areas of slates
missing and the cross walls to the carriage digisualls show evidence of distress,
particularly with cracking evident at the junctiaith the front wall (Wright 2010,
3).

IMPACT

The potential demolition of the northern block bétCorporation Stable Yards on
Smithdown Lane will see the removal of the lastanéjock of the stables. A small
portion of the later south-eastern block will suevias it has been restored and
incorporated into the Williamson Tunnels Heritagen€e which was opened in
2002. Clearance of the stables will remove a higitigracteristic building which
defined the area of Smithdown Lane for nearly 1darg. It will also mark the loss
of one of the few stables surviving in the city d@hd only surviving yard that was
funded by the corporation. Unfortunately, the staldrd has existed for the last ten
years as a decaying and solitary remnant of a angeh larger complex, and the
decline of the area leading to the loss of otheuctires mean that the last
buildings stand derelict and without context in apidly changing urban
environment, where the rest of the contemporartohcs character of the area is
now largely absent.

RECOMMENDATIONS

The building complex is a survival of late eteenth century corporation
architecture, but has no listed building status, @sdsuch, is not classified as one of
the more significant buildings within Liverpool. &hcondition of the building is
beyond economic repair and it has been proposetthdygeveloper for demolition.
The present building survey has provided a mitigatecord of the stable buildings
in the event that they are demolished.

Beneath the structure there is the potergraldmains and foundations relating to the
early phases of the stable yard complex and alsoeta constructed by Joseph
Williamson. Following demolition it is important @ the area is subject to
archaeological investigation in advance of anythier construction works. It is
recommended that an archaeological evaluationlirbecexcavated along the length
of the building to determine the depth of bedrackhis area and the potential for
underlying features, particularly tunnels. Subjecthat phase of works there may
also be a requirement for a process of watchirgf biiring any construction ground
works.
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APPENDIX 1: PROJECT DESIGN

1.
1.1
111

1.1.2

1.1.3

114

1.15

1.2
121

1.2.2

INTRODUCTION

PROJECT BACKGROUND

It is proposed that the stable buildings at thepGmation Stable Yard, Smithdown Lane,
Liverpool (centred on NGR 36340 90140) be demotisie part of a residential development
within the Stable Yard. As mitigation for this logsthe historic fabric of the area RA Fisk
and Associates, acting on behalf of Goldcrest Finantd, have requested that OA North
submit a costed project design to carry out a nredshuilding survey of buildings within
the former Corporation Stable Yard, and is in adaoce with verbal brief from the
Merseyside Archaeologist. This project design aatithe proposed methodology to be used
in order to record the building prior to any propissfor conversion or demolition.

Historical Background: a series of tunnels and buildings and tunnels werestructed by
Joseph Williamson in the early and mid-nineteerghtary in the area of Edge Hill and
which were centred on the site of the present dgwveént. He employed large numbers of
the poor at a time when the demobilisation from taoleonic Wars had left many of the
returning soldiers without work. His workforce huliouses along Mason Street one of
which, Number 44, he took for his own home (Han@8,88), the remains of which are still
visible today.

In addition to houses and other quarrying and caosbn works he was responsible for a
complex of tunnels, caverns and passageways whitinded beneath Mason Street to
Smithdown Lane. Many of the houses were built @has over the tunnels, and underground
passageways linked the buildings. The tunnels takesus forms and extensive work has
been done in and around the area of the stabletgaddcument the extent of the tunnels.
The most notable of the tunnels is the ‘triple-detkunnel, so called because it comprises
three tunnels, one inside the other. Williamsondu$e quarry and the construction of the
tunnels as a way of keeping people employed araltesining ground for carpenters, stone
masons and brick layers who were involved in theioaspects of his construction business
on Mason Street.

Work began in 1832 on George Stephenson's railwayel, which was to connect Edge Hill

station with Lime Street. The Williamson's workmeroke through into the tunnel from

beneath. Stephenson was given a conducted toundakdilliamson's tunnels, with which he

was very impressed (Hand 1917, 15). The railwapéljmow a cutting, forms the northern

boundary to the study area, although Williamsommels extend beyond it to the north and
east.

Williamson died on the 1st of May 1840 aged 71 yeard was buried with his wife and her

family in the Tate family vault located within tlggaveyard of St Thomas church on Park
Lane. With the death of Williamson work on the talsnceased immediately and many of the
tunnels had begun to be filled in with rubbish,retay 1845. The Liverpool Corporation then

took over the land and a deliberate policy was sstbpf using the tunnels to dump rubbish
(Head 1995, 4; The Porcupine 1867, August 31stNowkmber 23rd).

OXFORD ARCHAEOLOGY NORTH

Oxford Archaeology North has considerable expegent sites of all periods, having
undertaken a great number of small and large gmalgcts throughout Northern England
during the past 24 years. OA North has consideralfgerience of undertaking building
surveys across the region to fulfil the requirersentt clients and planning authorities, and
within very rigorous timetables.

OA North has the professional expertise and resoues to undertake the project detailed
below to a high level of quality and efficiency. OANorth is an Institute of Field

Archaeologists(IFA) registered organisation, registration numb&r and all its members
of staff operate subject to the IFA Code of Conducf1994).
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2.2

3.1
3.1.1

3.2
3.2.1

3.2.2

3.2.3

OBJECTIVES

The principal objective of the archaeological syri®to provide an understanding of the
historical development of the site, and to idensignificant architectural elements within
the surviving fabric.

The project aims are based on the English Herigadgelines (2006) for undertaking Level
3 surveys and will have the following requirements:

. demonstrate the buildings’ plan, form, fabric, ftion, age and developmental
sequence from the historical and archaeologicalende available;

. identify key architectural features within the suing fabric;

. the production of appropriate drawings, which womdude plans highlighting

historic fabric for all floors for which there ife access, which principally is
the ground floor. Also there would need to be aegal site plan of the

buildings.

. the production of drawings for the south and easinfy elevations of the
building.

. undertake a comprehensive and detailed photographicey of the surviving

fabric, which would include general views, exteroblique views, photographs
of the principal rooms, external and internal departinent to the buildings
design.

. the production of a final report and project arehiwhich would include an
account of the buildings overall form, its past apcesent usage and its
development, and a full bibliography

METHODS STATEMENT
Historical Background

An historical background is an essential preretpiief the proposed survey, and this has
been informed by an earlier desk based assessmeletrtaken by Lancaster University

Archaeological Unit (LUAU 1997; 1999). However,i#t also proposed to incorporate the
results of more recent research into the historgtables sufficient to provide an effective

historical background to the complex.

BUILDINGS RECORDING

Introduction: as no detailed survey is available for the buddihere will be a requirement
to undertake new instrument survey recording ireotd satisfy the English Heritage Level 3
requirements. The following section outlines th@eayal approach to be undertaken for the
production of site drawings, photographic archixd the written record.

Survey Drawings: the following as existing drawings will be proddder the building:

0] plans of the ground floor will be produced oéthuildings. These will be produced by
new survey using various accepted techniques. Wilkghow the form and location
of any structural features of historic significarféel 00 scale);

(i)  detailed drawings of any pertinent detail not moeadily captured through
photography.

(i)  elevation drawings of the eastern and southerrdéscaf the building.

New survey, by means of a reflectorless total atativill be needed for most of the survey in
order to produce the drawings. The reflectorledsl tetation is capable of measuring
distances to a point of detail by reflection frome twall surface, and does not need a prism.
The instrument to be used will be a Leica TCR8(@ectorless total station, which emits a
visible laser beam that can be visually guided mdopoints of detail. The digital survey data
will be captured within a pen computer running TlhEgoftware, which allows the survey to
be directly inserted into AutoCAD software for theoduction of final drawings. Additional
survey will be carried out if necessary using achaeld Leica Disto laser measure.
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3.24

3.2.5

3.24

3.2.5

3.2.6
3.3
3.3.1

The drawings will be manipulated in AutoCAD soft@ail he advantage of a CAD system is
that it allows for efficient manipulation and ediji of drawings. The adoption of a layering
system has significant benefits during the analgtéye as it allows for the display of
information such as feature types, fabric and pigaas necessary to the requirements of the
analysis, without the necessity to produce furthrawings. Finished drawings can be plotted
at the required scale or sheet sizes.

Photographic Archive: a photographic archive will be produced utilisifod) frame DSLR
cameras to produce digital images, and also ookbénd white 35mm film. A full
photographic index will be produced and the positid photographs will be marked on the
relevant floor plans. The archive will comprise fhiowing:

0] the general external appearance and wider settitigeduildings;
(ii) oblique views of all the external elevations, peieular views only if necessary and
appropriate;

(i)  the overall appearance of the principal rooam&l circulation areas, right angle views
of internal elevations only if necessary and appate;

(iv) any external or internal scaled detail, struatwor architectural, which is relevant to
the design, development and use of the buildingg] ahich does not show
adequately on general photographs;

(v) any internal scaled detailed views of featurdseepecial architectural interest,
ephemera, fixtures and fittings, or fabric detalbwant to phasing the buildings which
does not show adequately on general photographs.

Description: a detailed description of the buildings will be rogdl out to English Heritage
Level 3 guidelines, utilisingro-forma sheets. This provides for a comprehensive analytic
account for buildings of special importance andftii®wing methodology will be followed.

The written account will provide the understandiaguired in order to place the building in its
historical, architectural and cultural context. Tdescriptive record will include the following
accounts:

A general description of the buildings, which witiclude details of the plan, form
and function. Allied to this, a detailed descriptiof the materials used and
development sequence and phasing, including aasatitins, repair and rebuilding;

An account of the wider context within which theildings are situated. For example,
its relationship to places and buildings within tbeal area, as well as its historical
relationship to the area;

An appropriate description of each individual rodisérete space and component.
REPORT PRODUCTION

Report: one bound and one unbound copy of a written syietheport will be submitted to
the Client and within five weeks of completion @ldwork, and further copies submitted to
the Merseyside Historic Environment Record and fevelopment Control, City of
Liverpool following any comments from the Clientad report will include;

0] a site location plan related to the nationadgri
(i) afront cover to include the planning applicatinumber and the NGR,;
(i)  a concise, non-technical summary of the result

(iv) an explanation to any agreed variations to fm®ject design including any
justification for any analyses not undertaken;

(iv)  adescription of the methodology employed, workarteken and results obtained;

(v) an appropriate description of the results of theegtigation, including the physical
characteristics and condition of each site compbnen

(viy an appraisal of the quality and reliability of theta.

(vii) an overall interpretation of the generated datapetiminary conclusions reached
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3.4
34.1

3.4.2

(viii) plans, elevations, section drawings and photographs appropriate scale;
(vii) a copy of this project design, and indicationsmf agreed departure from that design;

(viii) the report will also include a complete bibliogrgptf sources from which data has
been derived; recommendations for further work;

(ix) a photographic index;
x) list of archive contents.
ARCHIVE

Archive: the results of all archaeological work carried duting fieldwork will form the
basis for a full archive to professional standamigccordance with current English Heritage
guidelines (Management of Research Projects imth®ric Environment (MoRPHE) 2006).
The project archive represents the collation adéxmg of all the data and material gathered
during the course of the project. It will includansmary processing and analysis of all
features, finds, or palaeoenvironmental data reeoveluring fieldwork to the appropriate
level. OA North conforms to best practice in thepgaration of project archives for long-term
storage. This archive will be provided in the EslglHeritage Centre for Archaeology format
and a synthesis will be submitted to the Merseysitstoric Environment Record (the index
to the archive and a copy of the report). OA Nqntactice is to deposit appropriate elements
of the original record archive of projects (paperagnetic and plastic media) with the
appropriate County Record Office, and a full codytlee record archive (microform or
microfiche) together with the material archive é#atts, ecofacts, and samples) with
National Museums Liverpool (NML). The actual defaibf the arrangements for the
deposition/loan and long term storage of this niatevill be agreed with the landowner and
NML. The archive will be compiled in accordance twihe National Museums Liverpool
(NML) 'Guidelines for the Transfer of ArchaeolodicArchives to National Museums
Liverpool V3’ (revised 2010) and followed as pafttiee archaeological Contractor's Project
Design preparation. The document is available frloen'Archive Curator’:

Dr L. Stewart, Curator of Archaeology and the Higt&nvironment,

Tel: 0151 478 4443

E-mail: liz.stewart@liverpoolmuseums.org.uk

Address: Urban History Division, NML, DTO, Albertdak, Liverpool L3 4AX.

Confidentiality: all internal reports to the client are designedlasuments for the specific
use of the Client, for the particular purpose d#ed in the project brief and project design,
and should be treated as such. They are not smifablpublication as academic documents
or otherwise without amendment or revision. Anyuiegment to revise or reorder the
material for submission or presentation to thirdtipa beyond the project brief and project
design, or for any other explicit purpose, canudélied, but will require separate discussion
and funding.

4. HEALTH AND SAFETY

4.1

4.2

OA North provides a Health and Safety Statemenéafigorojects and maintains a Unit Safety
policy. All site procedures are in accordance wite guidance set out in the Health and
Safety Manual compiled by the Standing ConferenteéAmhaeological Unit Managers
(1997). A risk assessment will be completed in adeaof any on-site works and copies will
be made available on request to all interestedgsart

OA North may require the hire of lighting and a geator if there is insufficient interior
lighting. This can be provided by OA North at aduial cost.

WORK TIMETABLE

Buildings Investigation: it is anticipated that the site work will requia@proximately five
days in total to complete. This is based on unabstd access, and should this not be
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5.2

6.2

7.1.1

7.1.2

possible this may affect timescale and hence dd®t.exact timescale is dependent upon site
access and contractors work schedule.

Report Production: a report will be submitted within approximately leigveeks of the
completion of all elements of the fieldwork.

OTHER

Access: liaison for access to the buildings during theeasment will be arranged with the
client, unless otherwise instructed prior to comosenent of the archaeological
investigation.

Project Monitoring: whilst the work is undertaken for the client, theengeyside
Archaeologist will be kept fully informed of the woand its results. Any proposed changes
to the project design will be agreed with the Mgsi#ge Archaeologist in consultation with
the client.

STAFFING PROPOSALS

The project will be under the direct managemeniarhie Quartermaine BA Hons Surv
Dip MIFA (OA North senior project manager) to whom all espondence should be
addressed.

The project will be carried in the field hris Wild and Karl Taylor (OA North project
officers). Chris and Karl have a great deal of eigmee in the recording and survey of
historic buildings in the North West of England.
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Plate 5: East-facing elevation of 69 Smithdown Lane
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